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IN THE MATTER OF
VERRAZZANO TRADING CORPORATION, ET AL.

ORDER, OPINION, ETC., IN REGARD TO ALLEGED VIOLATION OF
THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, WOOL PRODUCTS LABELING
AND TEXTILE FIBER PRODUCTS IDENTIFICATION ACTS
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This order, among other things, requires a New York City importer and distributor
of wool and textile fiber products, and four affiliated companies, to cease
misrepresenting or failing to properly disclose the fiber content of wool and
textile fiber products, and the residual shrinkage of such products. Addition-
ally, the firms must file bond with the Secretary of the Treasury before
participating in the importation of wool and textile fiber fabrics; and provide
purchasers of mislabeled merchandise with a copy of the order.

Appearances

For the Commission: Ellen Zweibel and Judith K. Braun.
For the respondents: David A. Botwinik, Pavia & Harcourt, New
York City.

COMPLAINT

Pursuant to the provisions of the Federal Trade Commission Act,
the Wool Products Labeling Act of 1939 and the Textile Fiber
Products Identification Act, and by virtue of the authority vested in
it by said Acts, the Federal Trade Commission, having reason to
believe that Verrazzano Trading Corporation, a corporation, Francis-
co Datini Inc., a corporation, Lanificio Tuscania Inc., a corporation,
Lima Textiles Inc., a corporation, and Walter Banci, individually and
as an agent for said corporations and as an officer of Lanificio
Tuscania Inc. and Lima Textiles Inc. and as a partner trading and
doing business as Lanificio Walter Banci s.a.s., hereinafter referred
to as respondents, have violated the provisions of said Acts and the
rules and regulations promulgated [2] under the Wool Products
Labeling Act of 1939 and the Textile Fiber Products Identification
Act, and it now appearing to the Commission that a proceeding by it
in respect thereto would be in the public interest, hereby issues its
complaint stating its charges in that respect as follows:

ParaGRAPH 1. Respondent Verrazzano Trading Corporation is a
corporation organized, existing and doing business under and by
virtue of the laws of the State of New York, with its main office and
princinal place of husiness at. 2 Penn Plaza New Vark Naw Vol
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existing and doing business under and by virtue of the laws of the
State of New York, with its main office and principal place of
business at 2 Penn Plaza, New York, New York.

Respondent Lanificio Tuscania Inc. is a corporation organized,
existing and doing business under and by virtue of the laws of the
State of New York with its main office and principal place of
business at 2 Penn Plaza, New York, New York.

Respondent Lima Textiles Inc. is a corporation organized, existing
and doing business under and by virtue of the laws of the State of
New York, with its main office and principal place of business at 2
Penn Plaza, New York, New York.

Individual respondent Walter Banci is an agent of said corpora-
tions and an officer of Lanificio Tuscania Inc. and Lima Textiles Inc.
and a partner trading and doing business as Lanificio Walter Banci
s.a.8. Lola Conti Banci is a co-partner but is inactive with respect to
the business operations of said company. Walter Banci formulates,
directs and [3] controls the acts and practices of said partnership and
of said corporate respondents, including the acts and practices
hereinafter set forth. His business address is the same as that of the
corporate respondents.

The corporate respondents and Walter Banci constitute a umﬁed
family business operation designed to import and sell in the United
States fabrics produced and exported from Italy by Lanificio Walter
Banci, s.a.s. and distribute such fabrics in commerce.

PAR. 2. Respondents are now and for some time past have been
engaged in the introduction, sale, advertising, and offering for sale,
in commerce, and in the transportation or causing to be transported
in commerce, and in the importation into the United States, of
textile fiber products; and have sold, offered for sale, advertised,
delivered, transported and caused to be transported, textile fiber
products which have been advertised or offered for sale in commerce,
and have sold, offered for sale, advertised, delivered, transported,
and caused to be transported after shipment in commerce, textile
fiber products as the terms “commerce” and “textile fiber product”
are defined in the Textile Fiber Products Identification Act.

PAR. 3. Certain of said textile fiber products were misbranded by
respondents within the intent and meaning of Section 4(a) of the
Textile Fiber Products Identification Act and the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder, in that they were falsely and
deceptively stamped, tagged, labeled, invoiced, advertised or other-
wise identified as to the name or amount of the constituent fibers
contained therein.

Among such misbranded textile fiber products, but not limited
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thereto, were certain textile fabrics stamped, tagged, labeled or
otherwise identified by respondents as “50% cotton, 35% polyester,
15% nylon” whereas, in truth and in fact, said products contained
substantially different fibers and amounts of fibers than represent-
ed. [4] ‘ .

PAR. 4. Certain of such textile fiber products were misbranded by
respondents in that they were not stamped, tagged, labeled or
otherwise identified as required under the provisions of Section 4(b)
of the Textile Fiber Products Identification Act, and in the manner
and form as prescribed by the rules and regulations promulgated
under said Act.

Among such misbranded textile fiber products, but not limited
thereto, were textile fiber products with labels which failed:

(1) To disclose the true generic names of fibers present; and

(2) To disclose the true percentages of such fibers.

PaAr. 5. Respondents’ textile fiber products described in Paragraph
Four above were imported by the respondents into the United States
and, as particularized in said paragraph, were not stamped, tagged,
labeled, or otherwise identified in accordance with the provisions of
the Textile Fiber Products Identification Act. The invoices of said
imported textile fiber products required by the Tariff Act of 1930
failed to set forth the information with respect to said textile fiber
products required under Section 4(b) of the Textile Fiber Products
Identification Act. The respondents did falsify the consignee’s
declaration provided for in said Tariff Act of 1930 insofar as it
related to said information, in violation of Section 9 of the Textile
Fiber Products Identification Act and Section 5 of the Federal Trade
Commission Act.

Par. 6. The acts and practices of respondents as set forth in
Paragraphs Three, Four and Five above were, and are, in violation of
the Textile Fiber Products Identification Act and the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder, and constituted, and now
constitute, unfair methods of competition [5] and unfair and
deceptive acts and practices, in commerce, under the Federal Trade
Commission Act. ,

PAR. 7. Respondents now and for some time past have imported for
introduction into commerce, introduced into commerce, sold, trans-
ported, distributed, delivered for shipment, shipped and offered for
sale, in commerce, as “commerce” is defined in the Wool Products
Labeling Act of 1939, wool products, as “wool product” is defined
therein.

PAr. 8. Certain of said wool products were misbranded by
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Wool Products Labeling Act of 1939 and the rules and regulations
promulgated thereunder, in that they were falsely and deceptively
stamped, tagged, labeled, or otherwise identified with respect to the
character and amount of the constituent fibers contained therein.

Among such misbranded wool products, but not limited thereto,
were certain wool fabrics stamped, tagged, labeled, or otherwise
identified by respondents as “45% acrylic, 30% wool, 25% cotton™
whereas, in truth and in fact, said products contained substantially
different fibers and amounts of fibers than represented.

Par. 9. Certain of said wool products were further misbranded by
respondents in that they were not stamped, tagged, labeled, or
otherwise identified as required under the provisions of Section
4(a)(2) of the Wool Products Labeling Act of 1939 and in the manner
and form as prescribed by the rules and regulations promulgated
under said Act.

Among such misbranded wool products, but not limited thereto,
were wool products, namely wool fabrics, with labels on or affixed
thereto, which failed to disclose the percentage of the total fiber
weight of the said wool products, exclusive of ornamentation [6] not
exceeding 5 per centum of said total fiber weight, of (1) wool, (2)
reprocessed wool, (3) reused wool, (4) each fiber other than wool,
when said percentage by weight of such fiber was 5 per centum or
more, and (5) the aggregate of all other fibers.

PAR. 10. Respondents’ wool products described in Paragraph Nine
above were imported by the respondents into the United States and,
as particularized in said paragraph, were not stamped, tagged,
labeled, or otherwise identified in accordance with the provisions of
the Wool Products Labeling Act of 1939. The respondents in their
invoices of said imported wool products required by the Tariff Act of
1930 failed to set forth the information with respect to said wool
products required under the provisions of the Wool Products
Labeling Act of 1939, to wit, the percentage of the total fiber weight
of the said wool products, exclusive of ornamentation not exceeding 5
per centum of said total fiber weight, of (1) wool, (2) reprocessed
wool, (3) reused wool, (4) each fiber other than wool, when said
percentage by weight of such fiber was 5 per centum or more, and (5)
the aggregate of all other fibers. The respondents did falsify the
consignee’s declaration provided for in said Tariff Act of 1930 insofar
as it related to the above items of information enumerated in this
paragraph, in violation of Section 8 of the Wool Products Labeling
Act of 1939 and Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act.

Par. 11. The acts and practices of the respondents as herein
alleged in Paragraphs Eight, Nine and Ten were, and are, in
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violation of the Wool Products Labeling Act of 1939 and the rules
and regulations promulgated thereunder, and constituted, and now
constitute, unfair methods of competition and unfair and deceptive
acts and practices, in commerce, within the meaning of the Federal
Trade Commission Act. [7]

PAR. 12. Respondents, now and for some time past, have been
engaged in the importation, offering for sale, sale, and distribution of
certain products, namely fabrics. In the course and conduct of their
business as aforesaid, respondents now cause and for some time past
have caused their said products, when sold, to be shipped from the
State of New York to purchasers located in various other States of
the United States, and maintain and at all times mentioned herein
have maintained, a substantial course of trade in said products in
commerce, as “commerce” is defined in the Federal Trade Commis-
sion Act.

PAR. 13. In the course and conduct of their business, respondents
have misrepresented to their customers the character and amount of
the constituent fibers contained in their products through falsely
and deceptively stamping, tagging, labeling and otherwise identi-
fying said products.

Among such products, but not limited thereto, were fabrics labeled
as “65% acrylic, 25% cotton, 10% nylon” whereas, in truth and in
fact, such products contained substantially different fibers and
amounts of fibers than represented including wool.

PAR. 14. In the course and conduct of their business, respondents
have misrepresented to their customers the shrinkage factor of their
textile products through falsely and deceptively invoicing said
products.

Among such products, but not limited thereto were fabrics
represented as having 1-1 1/2% residual shrinkage whereas, in truth
and in fact, such products shrink substantially more than represent-
ed.

PaR. 15. Respondents in the course and conduct of their business
have made statements on [8] invoices to their customers, misrepre-
senting the fiber content of certain of their products.

Among such misrepresentations, but not limited thereto, were
statements setting forth the fiber content thereof as “55% acrylic,
20% wool, 20% cotton, 5% other fibers” whereas, in truth and in
fact, said products contained substantially different fibers and
amounts of fibers than represented.

PAR. 16. The aforesaid acts and practices of respondents as herein
alleged in Paragraphs Thirteen, Fourteen and Fifteen were and are,
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constitute, unfair methods of competition and unfair and deceptive
acts and practices, in commerce, within the mtent and meaning of
the Federal Trade Commission Act.

INtT1IAL DECISION BY PauL R. TEETOR, ADMINISTRATIVE LAW
JUDGE 4

© NOVEMBER 25, 1977
I
SUMMARY OF COMPLAINT
Identification of Respondents |

Alleging violations of the Wool Products Labeling Act of 1939
(hereafter “the Wool Act”), the Textile Fiber Products Identification
Act (hereafter “the Textile Act”) and Section 5 of the Federal Trade
Commission Act (hereafter “the FTC Act”) and the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder, on 6/24/75 this Commission
issued its complaint against what Paragraph 1 thereof alleges to be
“a unified family business operation.” It is said to be made up of
Verrazzano Trading Corporation, Francesco Datini Inc., Lanificio
Tuscania Inc., Lima Textiles Inc. (all New York corporations with an
office in New York City) and one Walter Banci, personally, as an
officer and agent for said corporations and as a partner in an Italian
company, Lanificio Walter Banci s.a.s. His wife, Lola Conti Banci, is
alleged to be an inactive partner. [An amendment to the complaint
allowed by the administrative law judge without objection on
2/10/76 added Hudson Textile, Inc. (also a New York corporatlon) as
an additional respondent and alleged participant in the same
enterprise.] This “unified family business” is alleged in Paragraph 1
to be designed to import and sell in the United States and distribute
in “commerce” their fabrics produced and exported from Italy by
Lanificio Walter Banci s.a.s.

“Commerce” Allegations

Complaint Paragraph 2 alleges that respondents engage in
importing, transporting, advertising, offering and selling textile fiber
products and introducing them in “commerce,” both phrases being
defined as in the Textile Fiber Products Identification Act (hereafter
the “Textile Act”). [2]

Paragraph 7 alleges that respondents engage in importing,
transporting, distributing, offering, selling, shipping and delivering
wool products and introducing them in “commerce” (both phrases
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being defined as in the Wool Products Labeling Act (hereafter the
“Wool Act”). .

Paragraph 12 alleges that respondent engage in importing,
distributing, offering and selling fabrics generally, shipping such
fabrics, when sold, from the State of New York to purchasers located
in various states, the same amounting to a “substantial course of
trade” in “commerce,” as defined in the Federal Trade Commission
Act (hereafter the “FTC Act”).

Alleged Violations of the Textile Act

Complaint Paragraph 3 pleads a violation of Section 4(a) of the
Textile Act, which prohibits “misbranding,” i.e, false and deceptive
identification of the name or amount of constituents in textile fabrics.
An example of such misbranding is said to be the identification of a
textile fabric as “50% cotton, 35% polyester, 15% nylon” when the
constituent fibers and amounts thereof are, in fact, “substantially
different.”

Complaint Paragraph 6 adds that such violation of Section 4(a) of
the Textile Act, by virtie of Section 7 thereof, automatically
constitutes, in addition, an unfair practice under the FTC Act.

Complaint Paragraph 4 pleads a violation of Section 4(b) of the
Textile Act, which prohibits “misbranding” i.e., non-attachment or
non-affixation of specified identifying data of textile fiber products.
An example of such misbranding is said to be the non-disclosure on
textile fiber product labels of the true generic names of fibers
present or the true percentages of such fibers therein contained.

Complaint Paragraph 6 adds that such violation of the Textile Act,
by virtue of Section 7 thereof, automatically constitutes, in addition,
an unfair practice under the FTC Act. [3]

Complaint Paragraph 5 pleads a violation of Section 9 of the
Textile Act, which prohibits importation into the United States of
textile fiber products “misbranded” under Section 4 of the act (above).
In elaboration, Paragraph 5 explains that the required identifying
information was omitted from so-called Tariff Act invoices and
falsified on so-called Tariff Act consignee-declarations.

Complaint Paragraph 6 adds that such violation of Section 9 of the
Textile Act, by virtue of Section 7 thereof, automatically constitutes,
in addition, an unfair practice under the FTC Act.

Alleged Violations of the Wool Act
Complaint Paragraph 8 pleads a violation of Section 4(aX1) of the
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randing”) of wool products. An example of such misbranding is said .
to be the identification of certain wool fabrics as “45% acrylic, 30%
wool, 25% cotton,” whereas said fabrics in fact contained “substan-
tially different” fibers or amounts of fibers. Complaint Paragraph 11
adds that such violation of the Wool Act, by virtue of Section 6
thereof, automatically constitutes, in addition, an unfair practice
under the FTC Act.

Complaint Paragraph 9 pleads a violation of Section 4(a)(2) of the
Wool Act, which prohibits non-attachment or non-affixation of
specified identifying data (“misbranding”) of wool products. An
example of such misbranding is said to be failure to disclose by a
label on or affixed to a wool product the percentage of total fiber
weight! which is: [4]

(1) wool

(2) reprocessed wool

(3) re-used wool

(4) each non-wool fiber representing 5% or more of total weight
(5) the aggregate of all other fibers.

Complaint Paragraph 11 adds that such violation of the Wool Act,
by virtue of Section 6 thereof, automatically constitutes, in addition,
an unfair practice under the FTC Act.

Complaint Paragraph 10 pleads a violation of Section 8 of the Wool
Act, which prohibits importation into the United States of wool
products “misbranded” under Section 4 of the act (above). In
elaboration, Paragraph 10 explains that required identifying infor-
mation was omitted from so-called Tariff Act invoices and falsified
on so-called Tariff Act consignee-declarations. Complaint Paragraph
11 adds that such violation of the Wool Act, by virtue of Section 6
thereof, automatically constitutes, in addition, an unfair practice
under the FTC Act.

Alleged Violations of Federal Trade Commission Act*

Complaint Paragraph 13 pleads a violation of Section 5 of the FTC
Act, which prohibits unfair and deceptive trade practices, alleging
misrepresentation of the character and amount of constituent fibers
in respondents’ fabrics. An example pleaded is the [5] labeling of
fabrics “65% acrylic, 75% cotton, 10% nylon,” whereas, in fact, such

1 Exclusive of or tation not ding 5% of total fiber weight.

s Complaint Paragraphs 18, 14 and 15 plead unfair trade practices under Section 5 of the FTC Act which do not
(unlike earlier allegations of unfair practices) derive tically from a Textile Act or Wool Act violation and
which, in fact, for one reason or another, could not have been made the basis for a Textile Act or Wool Act charge.
The “public interest” finding requisite to all three FTC Act charges is pleaded in complaint Paragraph 16.
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fabrics contained ‘“substantially different” kinds and amounts of
fibers, including wool.®

Complaint Paragraph 14 pleads a violation of Section 5 of the FT'C
Act, which prohibits unfair and deceptive trade practices, alleging
misrepresentation of the shrinkage factor* in respondents’ textile
products. An example pleaded is a representation that fabrics have
1-1 1/2% residual shrinkage whereas, in truth, such fabrics shrink
“substantially more” than represented.

Complaint Paragraph 15 pleads a violation of Section 5 of the FTC
Act, which prohibits unfair and deceptive trade practices, alleging
misrepresentation by means of commercial (ie, non-Tariff Act)
invoices® concerning certain products’ fiber content. An example
pleaded is a representation that fiber content is [6] “565% acrylic,
20% wool, 20% cotton, 5% other fibers,” whereas, in fact, such
products contain “substantially different” kinds and amounts of
fibers than represented.

Complaint Paragraph 16 pleads the public interest in prosecution
which must exist to justify bringing charges (as in Paragraphs 13, 14
and 15) under Section 5 of the FTC Act (as distinguished from either
the Wool Act or Textile Act).

Proposed Order

A proposed order, served with the complaint, contemplates cease
and desist orders against all respondents, which orders would
prohibit: (1) misbranding textile fiber products by false or deceptive
identification of the name or amount of constituent fibers or by
failing to affix each element of information required by Section 4(b)
of the Textile Fiber Products Identification Act; (2) importing textile
fiber products into the United States except upon filing a bond in
double import value to comply with the Textile Fiber Products
Identification Act; (8) misbranding wool products by false or
deceptive identification of the character or amount of constituent
fibers or by failing to affix each element of information required by
Section 4(a)(2) of the Wool Products Labeling Act; (4) importing wool
products into the United States except upon filing a bond in double

* The significance of wool traces lies in making such a fabric a “wool product” and thus exempt from

application of the Textile Act, at least according to laint counsel's r ing, as will be di d at page 32
below,

¢ A misrepresentation concerning a fabric's shrinkage potential must be pleaded under the FTC Act because
both the Textile Act and the Wool Act are concerned only with the kinds and tities of fibers contained in a

fabric.
* Misrepresentation of the fiber content of a wool product must be charged under the FTC Act if the
instrumentality of the misrepresentation is an ordinary commercial invoice (as distinguished from a so-called
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import value to comply with the Wool Products Labeling Act; (5)
~ misrepresenting the character or amount of constituent fibers or the
shrinkage factor of wool and/or textile products in any manner,
including identification in invoices.

Respondents would also be required to give notice of misbranding
* to those customers who have bought misbranded products; to notify
this Commission of changes in business affiliation or employment; to
give notice to the Commission 30 days before making any structural
change in their business which might affect compliance with this
order; and to distribute copies of this order throughout their
organization. [7]

I

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

From the issuance of the Commission’s complaint on 6/24/75 to
the filing of this initial decision on 11/25/77, a period of nearly two
and a half years has elapsed. To one uninitiated in the lengthy
discovery procedures and complex motion practice that have come to
characterize Commission proceedings for the purpose of satisfying
the requirements of due process of law for businessmen, it might
appear that the administrative law judge and the parties put this
relatively small and largely indefensible® case on the back burner for
many months at a time.

On the contrary, the two and a half years were crowded with
constant motions and discovery procedures. Aside from an inexplica-
ble delay by the contract reporter of more than three months in
correcting the pagination and other clerical errors of this relatively
small trial transcript, there was almost never a period of time when

~some pre-trial, trial or post-trial procedure was not in the offing.
- Lest there be any question on this score, we have compiled a
detailed procedural history of this matter which is attached hereto
as Appendix I, to which any reader interested in the facts of this case
or any student interested in its implications for the future of
administrative jurisprudence is hereby referred. We now turn
directly to our findings of fact, which are notably briefer than the
procedural history of their evocation. [8]

——
¢ On 11/16/76, respondents’ counsel stated frankly in open court: “Now my fight will have to be a weak one
since I have nothing to show on Banci's side but I still have the right to put the Commission to its proof.” (Tr. 76.)
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I

FINDINGS OF FAcT

Parties

1. The sole individual respondent and principal figure in this
matter is Walter Banci, partner with his wife, Lola Conti Banci, in a
business known as Lanificio Walter Banci s.a.s. (Original Complaint;
Ans. I, § 1; Ans. IL, § 1; Ans. ITI, § 1), a firm which operates two
textile mills near Prato, Italy (Tr. 78).

2. For some years Banci has sold his textiles in the United States
through several corporations, all organized and existing under the
laws of New York. (Original Complaint; Ans. I, § 1; Ans. II, § 1; Ans.
I, § 1). :

8. Four of these New York corporations were named as respon-
dents in the original complaint here:

Verrazzano Trading Corp. (hereafter “Verrazzano™)
Francesco Datini Inc. (hereafter “Datini”)

Lanificio Tuscania Inc. (hereafter “Tuscania”)

Lima Textiles Inc. (hereafter “Lima”)

(Original Complaint; Ans. I, § 1; Ans. II, § 1; Ans. I1I, § 1)

4. A fifth corporation, named Hudson Textile Corporation
(hereafter “Hudson”), also organized and existing under the laws of
New York, was subsequently joined as -a respondent without
objection (Amended Complaint; Ans. III, § 1; failure of original
respondents to deny amended complaint). [9]

5. All respondents together have constituted a unified family
business operation designed to import and sell in the United States

“wool and textile products manufactured by Lanificio Walter Banci
s.a.s. (RA 1, § 642, Amended Complaint and Ans. II, § 1; see also an
earlier Verrazzano case, reported in 1971 in 78 F.T.C. 637, at 668.

6. Respondent Banci has formulated, directed and controlled the
acts and practices of this unified family business operation, both the
Italian family partnership (Lanificio Walter Banci s.a.s.) and the
American corporate respondents, including the acts and practices
challenged in the complaint here. (RA I, § 641; Complaint § 1; Ans. I,
§ 1; Ans. II, § 1; Amended Complaint § 1; Ans. 11, § 1). As his
counsel put it: “. . . Mr. Banci’s operation is such that he really is
the man who does everything. . .” (Tr. 77).

7. All respondents were actively doing business from an office at
2 Penn Plaza in New York City (their only office in the United
States, on this record) at least from 1/1/69-through 9/1/75 (ALJ

9,
S
“Annlinatinn NFf Qanctiane TTndax PDula £ 92920 Tae Teilaeen OO



VERRAZZANO TRADING CORP., ET AL. 899
888 ' Initial Decision

Respondents To Make Discovery As Ordered,” dated 4/16/76, at pp.
6-7.) ‘

8. During the years in question here, respondents admit, fabric
manufactured by Lanificio Walter Banci s.a.s. was shipped to the
United States in substantial quantities (Tr. 58). Moreover, we have
earlier found that since January 1972 and for the time period
covered by the complaint respondents have maintained a substantial
course of trade in wool and textile products in the United States.
(“ALJ’s Application Of Sanctions Under Rule § 3.38 For Failure Of
Respondents To Make Discovery As Ordered,” dated 4/16/76, at pp.
4-6) We have further found that since January 1972 respondents
have sold to United States customers substantial quantities of each

“of many specific textile products (including qualities Sioux, Manito,
Totem, Veruska, Navajo, Ingrid and Myla) and wool products
(including qualities Marnie, Gretel, Isabel, Spluga, Eva, and Ellen).
[10] (ALJ’s “Application Of Sanctions Under Rule § 3.38 For Failure
Of Respondents To Make Discovery As Ordered » dated 4/16/176, at
pp- 4-6.)

9. It is conceded by complamt counsel that after issuance of this
complaint and at least by November 1976, respondents were no
longer doing business in the United States and that their New York
City office was closed by then. (Tr. 78.)

10. This record is barren of evidence, however, as to whether
Banci may or may not resume his American sales, either through the
present corporate respondents or through other vehicles.”

Importation and Sale in Commerce

11. All the original respondents, including Walter Banci, in their
Answers admitted the allegations of complaint Paragraphs 2, T and
12,% [11] concerning respondent’s engagement in the importation of

* Subsequent to the closing of the record here both sides made claims on this subject but neither moved to re-

open the record to take further evid . When submitting his proj findi 1 for respondents reported
(but without benefit of afﬁdavnt) that Lanificio Walter Banci s.a.5. was adjudicated bankrupt in Prato, Italy on
9/2/71. Complaint tered by attaching to their reply brief unverified copies of Customs records of a

Banci sale to a New York customer as late as 9/29/77. We view both submissions as improper and we shall attach
no weight to either.
* The complaint allegations thus admitted are as follows:
“Paragraph Two: Respondents are now and for some time past have been d in the introduction, sale,
advertising, and offering for sale, in commerce, and in the transportation or causing to be transported in
commerce, and in the importation into the United States, of textile fiber products; and have sold, offered for
sale, advertised, delivered, transported and caused to be transported, textile fiber products which have been
advertised or offered for sale in commerce, and have sold, offered for sale, advertised, delivered,
transported, and caused to be transported after shipment in commerce, textile fiber products as the terms
“commerce” and “textile fiber product” are defined in the Textile Fiber Products ldentification Act.”
Paragraph Seven: Respondents now and for some time past have imported for introduction into commerce,
introduced into , sold, transported, distributed, delivered for shipment, shipped and offered for
sale, in commerce, as “commeme is defined in the Wool Products Labeling Act of 1939, wool products, as
“wool product” is defined therein.”

(Continued)
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textile fiber and wool products into the United States and their sale
and shipment, etc. thereof from New York to other states, in [12]
commerce, as ‘“coinmerce” is defined in the Wool, Textile and FTC
Acts. (Original Complaint; Ans. I, § 2; Ans. II, § 2).

12. When Hudson Textile Corporation was subsequently Jomed
as a respondent, its Answer to the amended complaint, for no reason
that has yet become apparent, denied the commerce allegations
found in complaint Paragraphs 2, 7 and 12.°* However, respondent
Hudson’s Answer to the amended complaint admitted most of the
allegations of complaint Paragraph 1, including an allegation that
“the corporate respondents” — which by then included Hudson —
together with respondent Banci, constituted “a unified family
business operation designed to import and sell in the United States
fabrics produced and exported from Italy by Lanificio Walter Banci
s.a.8. and distribute such fabrics in commerce.” (Complaint, § 1;
“Order Granting Amendment Of The Complaint,” dated 2/9/76;
Ans. III, § 1). As a part of this “unified family business operation,”
respondent Hudson, was necessarily engaged in the business’
importation of wool and textile products from Italy into the United
States and the sale, shipment, etc. of such products “in commerce”
from New York to other states and we now so find.

Investigation of Possible Misbranding

13. In 1971 this Commission agreed to dismiss misbranding
charges against most of the same respondents on condition that they
would voluntarily comply with the misbranding laws. See Verrazza-
no Trading Corporation t/a Lan Etruria, et al, 78 F.T.C. 637, 675
(1971).

14. Between 1973 and 1975 the Commission conducted a new
investigation into possible misbranding by respondents of woolen
and other textiles imported from Italy into the United States and
thereafter distributed in interstate commerce. [13]

Sample Sources

15. Many samples of respondents’ imported fabrics were obtained
from the United States Customs Service in New York City and many

“Paragraph Twelve: Respondents, now and for some time past, have been engaged in the importation,
offering for sale, sale, and distribution of certain products, namely fabrics. In the course and conduct of
their busi as afe dents now cause and for some time past have caused their said products,
when sold, to be shipped from the State of New York to purchasers located in various other States of the
United States, and maintain and at all times mentioned herein have maintained, a substantial course of
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others were obtained from United States customers of respondents,
including the following: '

Bobbie Brooks, Inc., 3830 Kelley Ave., Cleveland, Ohio (Tr. 374-75)

Ivy International, Ltd., 119 W. 40th St., New York, N.Y. RATI, |
45, 1 150, § 170; RA III, { 28)

MelRose Mfg. Co., 712 Commerce St., Dallas, Texas (RAIL, {1, 1 2;
RAIIL 7 17,9 18)

Jones of Dallas Mfg., Inc., 2316 N. Griffin St., Dallas, Texas (RA II,
115, 1 16; RAIII, 1 19, § 20)

Abbott Fabrics, Inc., 1412 Broadway, New York, N.Y. (RA I, 47,
1] 48, 149; RAIIL, § 21, 7 22, 1 23)

Artbro Sportswear, Inc., 1407 Broadway, New York, N.Y. RAII, §
88; RA 11, { 25)

F. Resnick, Inc., 242 W. 39th St., New York, N.Y. (RA II, { 107;
RA III, 1 26)

Fabri-Centers of America, Inc., 23550 Commerce Park, Beachwood,
" Ohio(RAL 19; RAIIL | 2)

Sample Quantity

16. Although respondents concede that their total imports of
wool and other textile products into the United States during the
period in question were “substantial”, (Tr. 58), they have declined to
[14] provide data on the total quantltles 10 ijmported. It is therefore
impossible, because of respondents’ contumacy, to determine with
any precision what percentage of their total imports during that
period have been sampled.

17. However, the record shows that 58 undisputed samples were
taken (RA T, 119, 38, §55; RATIIL | 1, 2, 15-18, 47-49, 87-88, 107-8,
145; RA 111,  1-30; RA V, § 1-40) and that the shipments from which
they were taken totaled over 1,185,000 yards of woolen and other
textile products. [Of this total, customs samples account for about
550,000 yards (see App. II. Col.) and one customer (Bobbie Brooks,
Inc.) for 635,000 yards. (Tr. 374-375).] : _

18. We find that the woolen and other textile products from
which the above samples were taken represent a very substantial

1 Respondents did reveal that the value of their imports to the United States was 1.424 billion lire in 1974 and

.271 billion lire in 1975. At the exchange rate as published (.001543) in the “Bank & Quotation Record M
of January 1975, these figures would convert to 2.2 million dollars and .4 million dollars, respectively.
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amount of trade in and of themselves and, drawing an inference
permissible under Rule 3.381 that withheld evidence would have
been unfavorable, we find further that the goods sampled were quite
probably a substantial portion of respondents’ total imports during
the period in question.

Tes;ing Process

19. The 58 samples listed in Appendix II were each subjected to
testing for actual fiber content, in some cases by the U.S. Customs
laboratory technicians and in others by independent experts
employed for that purpose by this Commission. The tests employed
and their validity were the subject of testlmony by three expert
witnesses: [15]

20. Dr. Samuel Golub, a 20-year veteran of textile research,
currently in charge of fabric analysis for Fabric Research Laborato-
ries, Dedham, Mass. (Tr. 105-06); Ms. Amelia Eaton, holder of a
degree in textile chemistry, veteran of fabric analysis, and currently
laboratory director for the U.S. Customs Service (Tr. 205-06). Both
she and Dr. Golub have been active in the American Society of
Testing Materials (hereafter “ASTM”) and the American Society of
Textile Chemists and Colorists (hereafter “AATCC”), associations
that have developed standard methods for qualitative and quantita-
tive textile fiber analysis (Tr. 106-7, 118, 208); Mr. Martin Young-
berg, holder of a degree in textile technology, has for eight years been
a chemist in the fiber branch of the U.S. Customs Service laboratory,
performing fiber content analyses throughout that time. (Tr. 330.)

21. All three witnesses described very similar procedures for
analysis of fabric samples. Dr. Golub tested CX 5, 9 through 13, 19
through 28, and CX 30. He testified that in his opinion CX 112 a-f
accurately represents the results of his testing. (Tr. 107-09.) He
explained a typical multi-fiber analysis at the hearing. [The exact
process for each test, he noted, may be different because of different
fibers present in the sample. (Tr. 150.)]. He began by preparing two
specimens so that he could run two separate tests on each sample.
(Tr. 130.) He examined microscopic slides of the sample to identify
the fibers present and thus determine the particular chemical
sequence to be used to decipher the percentage weight of each fiber.
(Tr. 136.)

22. Thereafter, Dr. Golub explained, the procedure is to extract
the spinning oils from the fabric; dry and weigh the fabric; apply a
reagent grade chemical which will dissolve one of the fibers; and
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repeat the process until all fibers have been dissolved except one.
(Tr. 136-142)) More specifically, Dr. Golub testified that if he
identified fibers of acrylic, nylon, wool, cotton, rayon, and polyester,
he would use cold dimethyl [16] formamide to remove acrylics,
formic acid to remove the nylon, 5% sodium hydroxide to remove
wool, 70% sulphuric acid to remove the cotton and rayon, with the
remainder being polyester. The sample would be rinsed, dried and
weighed between each application of a reagent. (Tr. 139-142.)

23. Ms. Eaton described similar procedures used at the U.S.
Customs Laboratory where, just as with Dr. Golub’s work, all tests
are done in duplicate. (Tr. 210.) She explained that the chemists, who
all work under her general supervision, use microscopic analysis to
determine what fibers are present in the fabric and to devise an
appropriate chemical sequence. (Tr. 212.) They then extract spinning
oils and other non-fibrous material from the sample. (Tr. 213.) After
the initial weighing under controlled temperature conditions,
reagents are applied to the sample to remove a fiber. Then the
sample is again rinsed, dried and weighed under constant conditions.
(Tr. 243-44.) Specifically, Ms. Eaton suggested using sodium hypo-
chlorite to dissolve wool (Tr. 250-51); dimethyl formamide to remove
acrylics and acetate (Tr. 256); formic acid to remove nylon (Tr. 257);
and 59.5% sulphuric acid to remove rayon (Tr. 257). Samples tested
under the supervision of Ms. Eaton are CX 4, 31-33, and 35-71. The
corresponding test reports are CX 154, 113, 114, 115, and 117-153.
Respondents’ counsel agreed that the above-listed exhibits are
genuine U.S. Customs’ laboratory reports of analyses done on the
samples. (Tr. 215-16.)

24. Mr. Youngberg was the chemist who personally performed
many of the tests cited above. (Tr. 330; CX 123, 129, 130, 135, 136, 140,
141, 142, 151, 152, 154.) The reports accurately represented his
findings of his analyses according to Customs procedures. (Tr. 331.)
He described the procedures he followed. He removed two specimens
from each sample to run duplicate tests. He then began by removing
non-fibrous material, then dried the sample, ground it up, mixed it
and conditioned it. [17] He microscopically examined the sample to
identify the fibers present and determined the “scheme of attack.”
(Tr. 335.) He would use either AATCC or established Customs
methods (Tr. 335-37), that is, sodium hypochlorite for removing wool
(Tr. 341); dimethyl formamide for dissolving acrylic and acetate (Tr.
324); formic acid to remove nylon (Tr. 341); 59.5% sulphuric acid for
rayon (Tr. 342); 70% sulphuric acid for cotton. This procedure would
leave a residue of polyester. (Tr. 324.)

24.1. There is no single standard chemical sequence to follow for



904 FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION DECISIONS

Initial Decision 91 F.T.C.

multifiber analysis. Dr. Golub testified that correct results can be
obtained from several different methods, explaining that “[t]he only
requirement is that the operator should know that and assure
himself that his is not losing weight from one of the subsequent
fibers which has not yet been dissolved by any particular step of the
process.” (Tr. 159.) Both Dr. Golub and Ms. Eaton have checked their
fiber analysis methods for accuracy. (Tr. 150-51, 214.) Dr. Golub used
acceptable methods for testing the samples given him by complaint
counsel. (Tr. 158.) Mr. Youngberg followed regular Customs proce-
dures, developed by Ms. Eaton, in testing the samples assigned to
him. (Tr. 214, 331.) A stipulation was agreed to by the parties that, as
to the remaining samples, the chemists performing the analyses
would testify that they, too, followed regular Customs procedures.
(Tr. 861) Accordingly, we find that the samples reported in
Appendix II were all tested in accordance with reasonable and
scientifically acceptable chemical procedures and that the results of
" the tests are satisfactory evidence of the true fiber content of the
samples. [17.1]

24.2. From time to time, respondents’ counsel has alluded to the
possibility that fabrics manufactured in Italy were made from used
fibers and that this would affect test results. Beyond respondents’
counsels’ innuendo there is no evidence that used fibers were
actually used in respondent Banci’s mills, let alone in the particular
runs involved here. In any event both experts Golub and Eaton
testified that the presence of used fibers in the samples would not
materially affect the fiber analysis. Even assuming that such a
possibility existed, the testing chemist would recognize it and make
corrections in the test accordingly. (Tr. 128, 286, 287.) We find that
the speculative suggestions of respondents’ counsel in this regard are
without substance, at least as far as this record is concerned.

25. In assessing the deviations from respondents’ representations
concerning fiber content summarized in Appendix II, it should be
borne in mind that this Commission, by regulation, will not deem
such deviation “misbranding” if it does not exceed 3% (by weight) of
a textile product’s total fiber content. 16 C.F.R. 303.43(a).

Test Results v
26. The results of the fiber content tests of these 58 fabric
samples are embodied in Appendix II. Each sample is there denoted
by its exhibit number, manufacturer’s “quality”, quantity of the
source fabric, source of data (Customs or customer), year of
shipment, represented fiber content, tested fiber content and

ren~n
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(expressed in percentage points above or‘below the representation).
We find Appendix II to be an accurate statement of the facts it
purports to show.

27. For purposes of analysis the 58 fabric samples whose
characteristics are summarized in Appendix II are broken down into
three groups. Group I includes 24 fabric samples which were
represented by respondents to contain certain percentages of various
textile fibers, but none of which samples were claimed to include or
in fact turned out to include any wool. Group II includes 25 fabric
samples which were represented by respondents to contain certain
- percentages of textile fibers, all of which samples were claimed to
include and, in fact, turned out to include certain percentages of
wool. Group III includes 9 fabric samples which were represented by
respondents to contain certain percentages of various textile fibers,
none of which samples, however, were claimed to include any wool
but all of which, in fact, turned out to include at least traces of wool.

28. Group I This group of 24 textile samples, as to which no wool
content was either claimed or found by testing, reveals serious and
pervasive misbranding. Of primary interest is misbranding which
overstates fiber content. Disregarding 8 fiber overstatements of 3%
or less as being within the tolerance of 16 C.F.R. 303.43(a), we find 29
other fiber overstatements, each in excess of 3% of total fiber weight.
The number and magnitude of these overstatements was as follows:

Group 1

Non-Wool Textiles

Magnitude of overstatements Number of overstatements
3 to 10 pércentage points 9
10 to 20 percentage points 12
over 20 percentage points ' 8
Total overstatements (over 3%) 29

[19] 29. As discussed later (p. 31 below), there is a question
whether misbranding which merely understates fiber content
violates the Textile or Wool Acts. The facts here reveal a consider-
able number of such understatements. Disregarding 1 understate-
ment of less than 3%, we find 38 other fiber understatements, each
in excess of 3% of total fiber weight. The number and magnitude of
these understatements were as follows:
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Group I
Non-Wool Textiles

Magnitude of understatements Number of understatements

3 to 10 percentage points 16
10 to 20 percentage points 19
over 20 percentage points 3

Total understatements (over ‘
3%) 38

- 20.1. We also find that in Group I, there were three instances (CX
61, 62, 63) where testing revealed the presence of acrylic in amounts
over 5% of the total fiber weight of the sample and yet acrylic was
not revealed by respondents to be a constituent fiber.

30. Group II This group of 25 fabric samples, each of which was
represented to include and did include some wool, also reveals
serious and pervasive misbranding. It is desirable to analyze the
extent of deviation from represented fiber content in this group of
textile samples not only in terms of overstatements vs. understate-
ments (as in Group I) but also in terms of wool fiber vs. all other
fibers, for the legal consequences vary, depending on these factors.

31. Wool fiber content. There were no understatements of wool
fiber content in any of the 25 samples in Group II but all 25 samples
revealed overstatements of wool content, in almost all instances (23)
by over 10 percentage points. The number and magnitude of wool
fiber overstatements were as follows:

Group 11
Wool Fiber
Magnitude of overstatements Number of overstatements
3 to 10 percentage points 2
10 to 20 percentage points 23
over 20 percentage points 0
Total overstatements (over 3%) 25

[20] 32. Other (non-wool) fibers. The 25 textile samples in Group II
reveal a substantial number of deviations from represented content,
both overstatements and nnderstatements nf fihor ranctitnantc
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number and magnitude of all other non-wool fiber overstatements
were as follows:

Group 1T
Non-Wool Fibers
Magnitudé of overstatements Number‘of overstatements
3 to 10 percentage points 13
10 to 20 percentage points 6
over 20 percentage points 10
Total overstatements (over 3%) 29

33. There were aléo a number of understatements of the content
of the non-wool textile fibers of Group II. Disregarding 7 understate-
ments of less than 3%, their number and magnitude were as follows:

Group 11
Non-Wool Fibers
Magnitude of understatements Number of understatements
3 to 10 percentage points 8
10 to 20 percentage points 4
over 20 percentage points 0

Total understatements (over
3%) 12

83.1. We also find in Group II fibers were included in the wool
products which were not revealed on respondents’ fiber content tags.
CX 19, 20, 21, 23, 24, 25, 26, 217, 28, 31, 32, 35, 36, 39, 41 and 42 all
contained nylon and polyester, each in amounts of over 5% of the
total fiber weight of the product but were claimed by respondents to
contain only wool, cotton and acrylic. CX 22, 37, 88, 40 and 4
contained nylon in amounts over 5% of the total fiber weight.

34. Group III This relatively small group of 9 textile samples is
significant largely because it poses the unusual situation of textiles
not claimed to contain any wool but found on testing to contain at
least traces of wool (and, for that reason, pleaded here as [21] direct?
violations of the FTC Act rather than as derived from either the
m I and Group 11 situation, too, are alleged to constitute violations of the FTC Act but only a

derivative theory. If a Textile Act and/or Wool Act charge fails in those situations, the derivative FTC Act charge
would pi bly fail automatically. Contra as to Group III situations.
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Wool Act or the Textile Act.) The wool traces, found in each Group
I1I textile sample, range from 1.1% to 9.6%, averaging 3.5%.

35. Disregarding 2 overstatements of less than 3%, Group III
contains a number of substantial overstatements of non-wool fiber
content as follows: .

Group IIT
Textiles Containing Unclaimed Wool

Magnitude of overstatements ~ Number of overstatements
'3 to 10 percentage points v 5
10 to 20 percentage points 6
over 20 percentage points 5
Total overstatements (over 3%) 16

In addition to one understatement of less than 3%, Group III also
contains a number of understatements of non-wool fiber content as
follows:

Group IIT

Textiles Containing Unclaimed Wool

Magnitude of understatements Number of understatements
3 to 10 percentage points 2
10 to 20 percentage points 1
over 20 percentage points 5
Total understatements (over
3%) 8

[22] 36. Residual Shrinkage. In 1973 and 1974 respondents sold
approximately 790,000 yards of fabric (qualities Sioux, Totem and
Manito) to Bobbie Brooks, Inc. Bobbie Brooks actually received
635,000 yards which were used in the manufacture of 25,000 dozen
garments. (Tr. 374-75.) Respondents’ sales invoices for qualities
Sioux and Totem represented that the fabric had a residual
shrinkage of from one to one and a half percent. (RA 1, ] 43.) Several
samples of this fabric (CX 15, 16, 17, 18) were tested by Dr. Golub for
residual shrinkage. (Tr. 109.) Respondents admitted that the samples
tested were samples of fabrics manufactured, sold and shipped by
them. (RA 1, 1 38; RA I1I, | 13, 14, 15, 16.) Dr. Golub’s tests indicated
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was approximately 5-6%, substantially more than respondents’
claim of 1 to 1 1/2% (CX 112d; Tr. 110) and also substantially more
than the maximum of 3 1/2% permitted for such fabrics by the
Anmerican National Standards Institute (Tr. 111).

37. Dr. Golub testified that washing has little effect on clothmg
manufactured from fabrics having a residual shrinkage of from 1to 1
1/2%, but that shrinkage such as was discovered in these samples
“would lead to improper fit, improper length and dimensions of the
garment and of course, it would make a garment unsatisfactory.”
(Tr. 110.) He further testified that a fabric would have to be treated
or stabilized to obtain residual shrinkage of only 1 to 1 1/2%.
Stabilization is an additional costly process which can be undertaken
by either the manufacturer or purchaser of the fabric. A claim of 1 to

-1 1/2% residual shrinkage by the manufacturer would lead the
purchaser to believe that the stabilization process had already been
performed on the fabric (Tr. 195) and therefore to pay the higher
price obtainable for stabilized fabrics. (Tr. 196.) [23]

Relief Factors

38. Previous Assurances. Signor Banci and his American corpo-
rate instrumentalities are not strangers to charges of fabric
misbranding. A prior proceeding before this Commission, begun in
1961 and terminated in 1971, resulted in a dismissal of misbranding
charges involving some rather close questions, on the condition that
respondents Banci and Verrazzano “endeavor to engage in coopera-
tive compliance procedures with the Commission’s staff.” Verrazzano
Trading Corporation t/a Lan Etruria, et al, 78 F.T.C. 687, 674-675
(1971). While complaint counsel made no effort to prove non-
cooperation in compliance procedures, as such, our findings of
substantial misbranding during 1973-74 now leave no doubt that
respondents were not cooperating and indeed cast considerable doubt
on the good faith of respondents when they pleaded in the prior case
that they were “anxious to avoid future difficulties under the Textile
Act as well as the Wool Act” and would “cooperate in a voluntary
enforcement procedure. . .” Ibid., p. 666.

39. Warnings and Complaints. Beginning in December 1972
(prior to this Commission’s 1973-74 testing program) respondents
admittedly received a substantial number of notifications from U.S.
Customs that their shipments of wool and/or textile products had
not been labeled in accordance with the Wool Act and/or the Textile
Act. (RA I, § 599.) Indeed, respondents’ counsel conceded: “He
(Banci) was receiving the notices (concerning fiber content) from
Customs almost daily. . . . Not daily notices but you (Complaint
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Counsel) know very well that . . . Customs frequently gave him
notices and I have to admit that because its true” (and) “you should
have copies. . . .” (Tr. 45-46.) As respects residual shrinkage,
complaints were made to respondents by at least two customers,
Starward and Bobbie Brooks. (Tr. 44.) [24]

40. Abandonment of Practices. Respondents rely heavily on
Customs reports of four 1976 fabric test results turned over to
respondents by complaint counsel before the hearing. (RX 7-10.)
These reports tend to show no misbranding of primary textile
constituents substantially in excess of 3% except for a fairly slight
overstatement of one constituent (-4.5%) in one of the four tests (RX
8). Respondents concede that evidence of little or no misbranding in
1976 would not be a defense to a charge of misbranding in 1973-74
(Tr. 295-6) but argue that it could be taken into account in
determining the terms of the order (Tr. 296). Complaint counsel, for
their part, did not seriously question the accuracy of the four reports,
arguing principally that four tests were much too few on which to
base sweeping conclusions about all of respondents’ 1976 importa-
tions (Tr. 294-5, 328). We admitted the test results but with a caveat
that little weight might be attached to them. (Tr. 828.) Mature
reflection has not changed our initial reaction. We find that the four
reports (RX 7-10) accurately report what they purport to show but in
the absence of further proof, which respondents did not even
attempt, we decline to draw therefrom any inference as to whether
these few tests fairly represent a substantial quantity of respon-
dents’ 1976 importations.

41. Abandonment of Respondents’ Business. There have been
occasional unsworn assertions by respondents’ counsel to the effect
that the Banci enterprise was in serious trouble. Thus, at a
prehearing conference on 11/16/76, respondents’ counsel stated (at
Tr. 74-5):

The financial situation in Italy is atrocious. Mr. Banci informs me that he is owed
substantial monies by the government of Italy. He is not receiving them. I've
mentioned before (that) he hasn’t been paying my firm for what we've done. [25]

. L] L d L] * ] *

Mr. Banci is a very depressed man. . . . and a man who really was the most
optimistic of all my clients in the past sounded terrible to me. It was just not the
Walter Banci I knew. He wrote me a letter: “. . . . For us the firms Lima Textiles,
Inc., Francesco Datini, Inc. and Verrazzano Trading Corporation are dead. And if they
are not yet, then we are ready to close them definitely. . . .”
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Judge Teetor: Counsel, is that list of companies that you read the total list of
respondents? Does that cover everybody that is a respondent here?

Ms. Braun: No, there was also listed Lanificio Tuscania, Inc. and Hudson Textile
Corporation and Walter Banci.

Mr. Botwinik: I'm certain (that) if Mr. Banci had thought of them he would have
included them in the letter because they are dead to all practical purposes. Mr. Banci
hasn’t been in the United States for, I'd say, three years. I don’t know what he is
doing. Ms. Braun and Ms. Zweibel told me before (that) there had been a shipment
from (in?) September in (from?) his factory. I know he is not shipping in the same
quantities he did in the past and any shipments now would be in very small amounts.

42. To such assertions has now been added another unsworn
allegation by respondents’ counsel in his “Proposed Findings, etc.”
that Signor Banci’s manufacturing company, Lanificio Walter Banci
s.a.8. on 9/2/17 was adjudicated bankrupt, with creditors’ claims
exceeding 14 billion lire (about 17 million dollars). Thus, counsel
argue, “it is highly [26] doubtful that Lanificio Walter Banci s.a.s. or
Walter Banci, who was the unlimited partner, . . . . will ever again
be involved in the United States fabric trade in any substantial
way.” (RPF, pp. 1-2.) On this theory, respondents seek to have all
findings of fact rephrased from the present to the past tense.

43. Complaint counsel concede that the corporate respondents
are “currently dormant” (CCR, p. 10) but note that there is no record
evidence that they have ever been dissolved. (CCR, p. 11.) Nor is
there record evidence that Walter Banci or the corporate respon-
dents have ceased doing business in the United States or, for that
matter, that the Italian partnership, Lanificio Walter Banci s.a.s. is
really bankrupt and, if so, under what conditions. Ibid. Indeed, it
appears that respondents might have some difficulty in attempting
to prove cesser of importation, since complaint counsel attach as
Exhibit A to their reply to respondents’ proposed findings Customs
documents which purport on their face to be an exporter’s invoice
and consumption entry for a textile importation by Lanificio Walter
Banci s.a.s. as late as 9/29/77. Obviously, we place no reliance
whatever on either party’s unverified assertions.

44. The Customs documents, however, may explain why respon-
dents have never attempted to make actual proof of cesser of
importation. There being nothing but a little lawyers’ rhetoric on
which to base a claim of abandonment or discontinuance of the
business here, we find no satisfactory evidence that Lanificio Walter
Banci s.a.s. is now out of business and no satisfactory evidence that
its trade in the United States, though “dormant,” may not be
revived, either through the corporate respondents or other vehicles.
[27]
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v

CoNCLUSIONS OF Law

1. The Federal Trade Commission has jurisdiction over the
subject matter of this proceeding and over all respondents.

Comment: Jurisdiction over the subject matter here is found in
Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act (hereafter “FTC
Act”), 156 US.C. 41, et seq; Section 7 of the Textile Fiber
Products Identification Act (hereafter “the Textile Act”), 15
U.S.C. T0e; and Section 6 of the Wool Products Labeling Act
(hereafter “the Wool Act”), 15 U.S.C. 68d. Jurisdiction over the
person of the five original respondents (Verrazzano Trading
Corporation, Francesco Datini Inc., Lanificio Tuscania Inc.,
Lima Textiles Inc., and Walter Banci) was obtained by deliver-
ing a copy of this complaint for each at their place of business at
2 Penn Plaza, New York, New York, on 7/23/75, and by the
subsequent general appearance of each by his attorneys, Pavia &
Harcourt (for details of which see Procedural History, App. I, pp.
i-ii). Jurisdiction over the sixth respondent (Hudson Textile
Corporation) was obtained by serving an order amending the
complaint to include Hudson on its attorney, Pavia & Harcourt,
on 2/18/176 and by said attorney’s subsequent general appear-
ance for said respondent (for details of which see Procedural
History, App. I, p. v.). :

2. The acts and practices charged in the complaint and proved
here took place in commerce within the meaning of Section 2(k) of
the Textile Act, 15 U.S.C. 70; Section 2(h) of the Wool Act, 15 U.S.C.
68; and Section 4 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 44.[28]

Comment: All respondents except Hudson concede this. See all
answers to complaint paragraph except Hudson’s. For our
finding of fact that Hudson, as part of a unified family business
operation, was necessarily engaged “in commerce” for present
purposes, see Finding of Fact # 12.

3. All respondents have constituted a unified family business
operation designed to import and sell in the United States wool and
textile products manufactured in Italy by Lanificio Walter Banci
s.a.s. a partnership between respondent Banci and his wife.
Respondent Banci formulates, directs and controls the acts and
practices of both the Italian manufacturing partnershin and the
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American corporate respondents, including the acts and practices
that are the subject of this complaint.

Comment: All respondents, including Banci himself, concede the
existence of this unified family business operation, Banci’s
dominance therein and his responsibility for any particular acts
and practices challenged here. Findings of Fact # 5 and 4 6. For a
holding that such dominance of corporate affairs will be enough
to hold an individual, see Tractor Training Service, Inc. v. F.T.C.,
227 F.2d 420 (9th Cir., 1955). Other courts require an additional
showing of actual participation in the challenged practices, Coro,
Inc., et al. v. FTC, 338 F.2d 149, 154 (1st Cir., 1964, cert. den., 380
U.S. 954, but that, too, is conceded here. Ibid.

4. Respondents have violated Sections 4(a), 4(b) and 9 of the
Textile Act, 15 U.S.C. 70b, and 70g, (and thereby also Section 5(a) of
the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 45) by importing into the United States and
selling in interstate commerce substantial amounts of non-wool
textile fiber products in which one or more constituents were
overstated on the label or other identification device contemplated
by the Textile Act. [29] '

Comment: Finding of Fact § 28 establishes that respondents have
made 29 overstatements of fiber content in Group I of the
textiles sampled and listed in Appendix II (not including 8 other
overstatements of less than 3 percentage points). Two thirds of
these overstatements are there shown to exceed 10 percentage
points and a quarter of them to exceed 20 percentage points.
Unless respondents’ criticism of the Commission’s testing
methodology has some merit, it seems plain and we find that
Group I of Appendix II evidences some 29 clear violations by
respondents of the Textile Act (and, by derivation, the FTC Act)
during the period 1973-74.

In addition, respondents failed to list all constituent fibers
which amounted to over 5% of the total fiber weight on three of
the Group I samples tested. (Finding of Fact # 29.1) By this
omission, respondents violated the clear requirements of Section
4(b)(1) of the Textile Act.

Test Methodology

Respondents argue that neither the Textile Act nor the Wool Act
nor any regulation under either establishes any particular method
for testing the fiber or wool content of specific samples of fabric.
They contend (RPF, p. 5) that, absent such statutory standards,
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complaint counsel must establish the superiority of their tests over
all others in order to sustain reliance on them.

Prior Commission cases hold, however, that to support the validity
of a test result, it is sufficient that complaint counsel establish only
the expertise of the testers and their adherence to general
procedures accepted by the scientific community.'®* Hunter Mills [30]
Corp. v. F.T.C., 284 F.2d 70 (2nd Cir., 1960), cert. den., 366 U.S. 903.
Such expertise and acceptable methodology were clearly established
here. See Findings of Fact # 19-24.1.

A similar question was raised in Allenton Mills, Inc., 60 F.T.C.
- 1630 (1962). In the initial decision, (which was adopted by the
Commission) it was found that the testimony of an expert witness as
to the approximate percentages of reprocessed wool in the samples of
fabric manufactured by the respondents, constituted “substantial
and reliable proof” that said samples contained at least the amounts
of reprocessed fibers to which the expert testified. It was further
stated therein that:

[ilt is not essential that a test be capable of determining quantitatively the precise
amount of a particular fiber. It is sufficient that the test under proper conditions when
undertaken by a qualified expert, determines the approximate amount within
reasonable limits. (p. 1640).

In the present case the expert witnesses clearly testified and we
have found that their qualifications and the test methodology they
employed were acceptable and proper. See Findings # 19-24.1.
Although respondents’ counsel cross-examined all complaint coun-
sel’s experts extensively, he made no serious inroads on their
testimony. Moreover, respondents introduced no witnesses of their
own to rebut the testimony of complaint counsel’s experts. Nor did
respondents offer any evidence of tests made by themselves or others
which would support the fiber content claims made on their labels
and other fiber identification devices.

The 2nd Circuit Court of Appeals’ per curiam opinion in Hunter
Mills Corp., 284 F.2d 70, 71 (2nd Cir.,, 1960) is dispositive of
respondents’ contentions in this area:

The variance in testing techniques between the two experts testifying for the
Commission does not impeach the testimony of either. The Commission has the duty
of passing on the qualifications of the experts who testify [31] before it, and it may
decide that both procedures are proper. . . . Moreover, it is unlikely that the
allegedly “proper” procedure would have changed the ultimate fact-finding, since the
percentages of wool content were substantially below those permitted by statute.

** Respondents’ citation of the Flammable Fabrics Act, 15 U.S.C. 1191, and the United States Grain Act, 7
U. S C 71, as statutes whlch prowde speclf' ic test prooedures m be followed seems to us to cut the other way. They
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We conclude that there is nothing to resi)ondents’ attack on the
testing process employed here.

Understatements of Fiber Content

Finding of Fact # 29 establishes that in addition to the 29
overstatements of fiber content analysed in Finding # 28 there were
also 38 substantial understatements of fiber content in Group I. As to
whether these should be held violations of the Textile Act in the
present confused state of the law we are uncertain. In the
predecessor case, Verrazzano Trading Corporation, t/a Lan Etruria,
et al, 18 F.T.C. 637, 670-71 (1971), this Commission expressly
disagreed with but followed, as stare decisis, the ruling of the Second
Circuit Court of Appeals in Marcus v. Federal Trade Commission, 354
F.2d 85 (2nd Cir., 1965) that an understatement of wool fiber content
is not misbranding within the meaning of the Wool Act. Since the
same logic seems applicable to understatements of non-wool textiles,
we are inclined to apply the same rule here. Accordingly, we
conclude that respondents did not, by understating certain fibers as
shown in Finding # 29 add to the violations of law resulting from
their overstating fiber content, as shown in Finding of Fact # 28.

5. Respondents have violated Sections 3, 4 and 8 of the Wool Act,
15 U.S.C. 68a, 68b and 68f (and thereby also Section 5(a) of the FTC
Act, 15 U.S.C. 45) by importing into the United States and selling in
interstate commerce substantial amounts of wool products in which
the wool fiber content was overstated on the label or other
identification device contemplated by the Wool Act. [32]

Comment: Finding of Fact # 31 establishes 25 instances where
respondents overstated the wool content of their textiles, in 23 of
which instances the overstatement was between 10 and 20
percentage points. Assuming, as we do, that respondents’ attack
on the Commission’s testing methodology is no more convincing
with regard to wool than with regard to other textile fibers, we
conclude that the textile samples of Group II of Appendix II
evidence some 25 clear violations by respondents of the Wool Act
(and, by derivation, the FTC Act) during the period 1973-74.

In addition, respondents failed to list all constituent fibers
which amounted to over 5% of the total fiber weight on twenty-
one of the Group II samples tested. (Finding of Fact # 33.1.) By
this omission, respondents violated the clear requirements of
Section 4(2)(A) of the Wool Act.

Effect of Wool on Misbranding of Other Textiles
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Finding of Fact # 32 establishes that wool was not the only fiber
overstated in Group II textiles. It shows 29 overstatements of non-
wool fibers considerably in excess of the Commission’s “tolerance”
(3%). A question naturally arises as to why 29 substantial overstate-
ments of other textile fibers should not be actionable without regard
to whether they occur in fabrics which contain wool.

The theory of non-actionability turns on Section 2 of the Wool Act,
which makes a fabric containing any wool a “wool product” and
Section 2 of the Textile Act, which exempts “wool products” from the
strictures of the Textile Act. Against all common sense, therefore, all
other textile fibers in a fabric that contains wool escape the
requirements of either the Wool or Textile Acts. And this Commis-
sion in the earlier Verrazzano case, at pp. 670-1, apparently accepted
such conclusion as the inevitable result of the Second Circuit’s
Marcus opinion (supra, pp. 670-1). [33] .

Accordingly, we feel bound to hold that the overstatements of non-
wool fiber content marshaled in Finding of Fact # 32 do not add
anything to our finding of 25 misbranding violations arising out of
overstatements of the wool content of Group II textile samples.

With reference to the understatements marshaled in Finding of
Fact # 33, we are governed by the same considerations set out in
connection with Group I textile samples (p. 31, above).

6. Respondents have violated Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15
U.S.C. 45, by engaging in certain unfair and deceptive acts and
practices in the importation of wool and other textile products into
the United States and the sale of substantial quantities of such
textiles in commerce.

Comment: Insofar as the complaint charges violations of the FTC
Act as simple derivatives of violation of the Wool and Textile
Acts (see Section 3 of both Acts), we have already noted that
failure to prove the Wool or Textile Act charge automatically
carries with it failure of the derivative FTC Act charge. When,
however, an independent FTC Act charge is pleaded, the
situation is different: the question then is simply whether all the
essential elements of an unfair/deceptive practice case have
been made out. »

Here Section 5(a) of the FTC Act has been invoked to reach
several situations where it was apparently felt that neither the
Wool nor the Textile Act could reach the wrong. One includes
the Group III textile samples (see Findings of Fact # 34-35)
where, for reasons already explained, the wool contents are
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presence make it impossible in the existing confused state of the
law to reach 16 serious overstatements of other (non-wool) fibers
in these “wool products.” [34] '

A second situation where Section 5(a) of the FTC Act is
invoked is found in the wool products exhibits of Group II (CX 4,

'19-28, 31-38 and 85-45). The respondents admitted that their

sales invoices for these wool products contained the same
representations of fiber content as the product’s other labels and
tags. (RA I, 1 26; RA III, | 33 through { 37.) We have already
found substantial deviations between fiber content as represent-
ed by respondents and actual tested fiber content. (Finding # 31.)
However, the Wool Act, unlike the Textile Act, does not reach
misrepresentations made on sale invoices. (cf. § 4(a) of the
Textile Act, § 4(a)1) of the Wool Act). Therefore, complaint
counsel hope to invoke Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, arguing that
“the gross misrepresentations to customers made by respon-
dents on the sales invoices relating to these misbranded wool
products are false and deceptive acts or practices under the -
Federal Trade Commission Act.” (CPF, p. 42.)

A third such situation is set out in our Findings of Fact # 36-37
on misrepresentations by respondents to their customers
regarding residual shrinkage, which are not, of course, governed
by misbranding laws.

In all of these situations the threshold question is: what does
proof of an unfair method of competition and/or deceptive act or
practice entail that is not required to establish a Wool Act or
Textile Act violation? More specifically, is the deceptive capacity
or tendency which is the bare minimum for a Section 5 violation
sufficiently evidenced by the mere fact of misbranding or must
something more be shown? [35]

It is well established that proof of a Section 5 violation does
not require a showing of actual injury or deception but only a
capacity or tendency to injure or deceive. Charles of the Ritz v.
Federal Trade Commission, 143 F.2d 676, 680 (2nd Cir., 1944).
Still, there is supposed to be some record evidence as to how
consumers may be injured or misled, as to price, quality, etc.
Federal Trade Commission v. Winstead Hosiery Co., 258 U.S. 483
(1922). That seems to be at least a theoretical difference between
such cases and those brought under the Wool or Textile Acts,
which “may be violated despite the absence of actual deception
or a tendency to deceive. . .” Taylor-Friedsan Co., Inc., et al, 69
F.T.C. 483, 494 (1966).

While we would certainly not be shocked by the idea that
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deceptive tendency may reasonably be inferred from misbrand-
ing alone, we cannot make out that the law has progressed quite
that far. Accordingly, we now conclude that neither the
misbranding of Group III textile samples nor the misbranding of
a textile product on a commercial invoice is sufficient, standing
alone, to prove the deceptive tendency requisite to a Section 5
FTC violation. On the other hand, the charge of misrepresenta-
tion regarding residual shrinkage is supported here by sufficient
additional evidence of deceptive tendency, as developed in
Findings of Fact # 36-37, to justify a conclusion that Section 5(a)
of the FTC Act has been violated independently in that respect
and we now so conclude.

v

RELIEF
The “Public Interest” Defenses

Respondents have made several arguments as to why their
violations of the Wool Labeling and Textile Fiber Identification Acts,
even if established, should not be made the subject of an order by this
Commission. [36] All such arguments are based ultimately on the
rule laid down by Justice Brandeis in Federal Trade Commission v.
Klesner, 280 U.S. 19 (1929). That case held that when the facts
established in a proceeding before the Commission show, as a matter
of law, that the relief would not be in the public interest, the
complaint should be dismissed. Whether this holding in an FTC Act
case has any application to special statutes enforced by the
Commission seems very doubtful but for present purposes we
assume, arguendo, such applicability.

The Klesner rule, although understandably popular among
respondents, has not had the wide-ranging application that its
statement might suggest. As a practical matter, it has been
substantially confined to three kinds of situations which are, in fact,
the ones relied upon by respondents here.

1. Private vs. public interest

In Klesner the unfair method of competition involved was the
appropriation of a competitor’s trade name in the retail window
shade business in Washington. The Supreme Court, affirming
dismissal of the suit, said:
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